SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1764

Lower Tribunal No.: 3D99-2230 CITY NATIONAL BANK OF FLORIDA, formerly known as CITY NATIONAL BANK OF MIAMI, as Trustee under certain Trust Agreement dated November 21,: 1985, and known as Trust Number 5005110,: et al, : Petitioner, VS. MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, formerly known as DADE COUNTY, a political subdivision: of the State of Florida, Respondent. PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

Thomas R. Bolf, Esq. RUDEN, McCLOSKY, SMITH SCHUSTER & RUSSELL, P.A. 200 East Broward Blvd., 15th Floor Post Office Box 1900 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302 (954)764-6660; Miami (305)789-2700

Florida Bar No. 454419

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Dade County condemned approximately a quarter acre of the Property Owners' land, located caddy corner to Joe Robbie Stadium. The taking reduced the Property Owners' commercial frontage on the major thoroughfare (27th Avenue) from 610 feet to 494 feet. City National I, 715 So.2d at 351. Both Dade County's appraiser, and the Property Owners' experts, agreed that the highest and best use of the property was for development of commercial out parcels along 27th Avenue. Tr. at 23, 95, 106-107. Both Dade County's appraiser, and the Property Owners' experts, agreed that the market for out parcels in Dade County demanded a minimum width of 150 feet per parcel. Tr. at 26. Dade County's appraiser concluded that out parcels of less than 150 feet existed in Dade County, and concluded the decrease in frontage for the expected out parcels did not devalue the subject property. Tr. at 25. The Property Owners' experts concluded that shrinking the out parcels to less than 125 feet each was not commercially feasible, and that instead the remaining frontage on 27th Avenue should be divided into three out parcels of a commercially acceptable 165 feet of frontage each. Tr. at 26-29. Because this reduced the number of potential out parcels for the Subject Property from four to three, and because out parcels are more valuable than the balance of the Subject Property, the Property Owners suggested that one out parcel be located to front on the side street, 207th Street. Id. While frontage on 207th

Street is less valuable than frontage on the much busier 27th Avenue, retaining four out parcels of acceptable width was perceived by the Property Owners' experts to be less damaging to the Subject Property. *Id*.

To assist the process of analyzing and presenting the foregoing information, the Property Owners' experts used a site plan that had been developed by the Property Owners when Dade County rezoned the Subject Property. Tr. at 20. This site plan reflected four out parcels along 27^{th} Avenue. Tr. at 28. The site plan was reviewed by Dade County Staff in conjunction with the rezoning. Tr. at 22. The Dade County Building and Zoning Department sent the Property Owners a letter stating that if any changes to the site plan were made, that it would need to be resubmitted for approval. Tr. at 22; 97-98, R. 211. The site plan received a sign off by Dade County's Fire Department, and was the basis for a Water and Sewer Agreement between the Property Owners and Dade County's Utilities Department. Tr. at 22; R. 291, Leoncio Proffer, at Tab J (water and sewer agreement) and Tab H (fire department sign off); Moriber Proffer, R. 229, at ¶6.

The Property Owners provided their appraisal, which included the work product of the other experts as summarized above, to Dade County far in advance of trial.

R. 512. The experts were deposed and therein reviewed their analysis and conclusions with Dade County's counsel. *Id.* The case proceeded to trial, with no action being

taken by Dade County to exclude the Property Owners' theory of their case, or to preclude the use of the site plans. Tr. at 34. On the morning of the trial, Dade County *ore tenus* moved *in limine* to exclude the site plans. *Id.* The trial judge denied the county's motion, and the case proceeded to trial. Tr. at 35. Information was elicited from the County's first witness, a Dade County engineer, very shortly into his examination that caused a mistrial. (Findings at ¶7; Tr. at 35-37).

After the mistrial, the Property Owners' counsel prepared twice more for trial, one of which was not reached on the calendar, and the other which was tried. Tr. at 37. In anticipation of the second trial, Dade County filed a motion *in limine* to exclude the site plans as too speculative. The trial court granted the motion, and this action was affirmed on appeal. Tr. at 37; *City National I*. The Property Owners' case was premised on demonstrating the problems created for the Subject Property by the loss of frontage, and the inability to use the site plans to show the impact on the out parcels made the Property Owners' claim for severance damages of approximately \$100,000 not viable. *City National I*, 715 So.2d at 352. The respective appraisers agreed on the valuation of the land taken of \$93,600, and judgment was entered for this amount. R. 412.

The Property Owners prosecuted their motion for attorneys' fees and experts' fees. R. 498. After a lengthy hearing, the trial court entered a nine page Findings of

Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Judgment Awarding Attorneys' Fees, Experts' Fees and Costs. Therein, the trial court found that the number of hours reflected on the invoices of the experts and attorneys in this cause accurately reflected the time required to perform the services referenced in said invoices. (Findings at ¶1) The County presented no testimony or other evidence to the contrary, and in its Opening Statement at the fee hearing, acknowledged that it was not challenging the number of hours devoted for these services. (*Id.* Tr. at 14, 19). The trial court deemed the testimony and the invoices from the experts and attorneys to be credible. (Findings at ¶1).

The trial court concluded that the hourly rates reflected in the invoices of the experts were reasonable hourly rates. (Findings at ¶ 2) Each of the experts are very experienced professionals, each possessing over twenty (20) years of experience in their field. (*Id.*; Tr. at 88, 121, 123, 127, 133). The County did not present any contrary evidence, and in its Opening Statement, it acknowledged that it was not challenging the hourly rates of the experts. (Findings at ¶2; Tr. at 14, 19). The trial court also found that the hourly rates charged by counsel were reasonable, and the County presented no evidence to the contrary. *Id.* Lead counsel for the Defendants, Thomas R. Bolf, had fifteen (15) years of experience, is AV rated, and is a partner with the state-wide law firm of Ruden, McClosky, Smith, Schuster and Russell; the

trial court ruled \$250.00 per hour was a reasonable rate for his services. (Findings at ¶2; Tr. at Exh. A) James Horland is a thirty-three (33) year attorney, and his hourly rate of \$225.00 was found to be reasonable. (Findings at ¶2; Tr. at 83).

The trial court ruled that the monetary benefit in this cause was zero (0). The trial court further found two non-monetary benefits: as testified without rebuttal, by transportation engineer Donald Moore, counsel and the experts were able to obtain a design change in the construction plans, which moved a bus loading bay, which created access for the subject property on 207th Street. (Tr. at 118) In addition, as a result of the mistrial, counsel was successful in having an Offer of Judgment from Dade County withdrawn; otherwise, the clients would have been responsible for the fees and costs for the period after the first trial resulted in a mistrial. (Tr. at 160) The invoices of the experts and counsel reflected that their time thereafter totaled approximately \$30,000. (R. 498; Findings at ¶3).

The trial court concluded (Findings at ¶4) that pursuing the severance damage claim herein was reasonable and justified under the circumstances, for the following reasons:

1.

(a) At the initial trial, which resulted in a mistrial, Judge Robert Kaye,

after hearing DADE COUNTY'S Motion in Limine on this issue, ruled that the site plans and other documentation would be admissible at the trial. (Tr. at 35)

- (b) DADE COUNTY did not move to exclude this severance damage claim until the day of the trial, and it was incumbent upon counsel for the Defendants to prepare in anticipation of presenting the evidence at trial. Indeed, if counsel did not prepare for the presentation of this evidence, and (as occurred herein), the Court did not exclude the evidence, counsel would have placed his client at a severe disadvantage. (Tr. at 34-35)
- (c) Defendant's counsel had a reasonable basis for believing that the evidence would be admissible, based upon *Partyka v. D.O.T.*, 606 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), which reversed a trial court for excluding site plans, as "[t]he excluded plans were perhaps the clearest form of evidence available to demonstrate the remaining property's utility before and after the taking." *Id.* at 496. The *Partyka* case, coupled with the trial court's initial ruling that the site plans would be admissible, demonstrates a reasonable basis for Defendant's counsel in pursuing this claim. (Tr. at 50-54).

- (d) The County's appraiser concluded in his 1992 appraisal, prior to Defendant's employing condemnation counsel, that: "1. The site's location across from the stadium and the race track make it suitable for development with service stations and fast food restaurants," and "therefore, it is our opinion that the highest and best use of the site as of the appraisal date was to remain vacant for the short term and then to be developed with a combination of service stations and/or restaurants, with a retail store component if sufficient market demand exists," and "at the time the site is developed for commercial purposes, it is likely that it would be developed in a manner similar to that indicated by the owners, that is, retail strip stores across the rear of the site and three or four out-parcels along the 27th Avenue frontage." (Gallaher Appraisal at 19-20, Tr. at. 23-26, 106-107).
- (e) The Property Owners/clients consistently maintained that the highest and best use of the property was consistent with the site plans at issue, and given the evidence and law available to counsel, counsel could not disregard the client's position. (Tr. at 23-24). The trial court noted that, although the County insisted the client's plans did not

include a gas station at the corner, at the hearing at least four (4) separate site plans were presented, which were drafted prior to the condemnation, in which all reflected gas pumps at the corner site. (Tr. at 104)

- (f) Each of the experts that testified had significant experience in condemnation matters, including condemnation matters which affected gas stations and gas station sites; each of the witnesses testified that the type of services they performed in this matter were consistent with the types of services they performed in other similar cases, both on behalf of the property owners, and on behalf of condemning authorities, and that in those cases in which the experts have been retained on behalf of the property owners, that the condemning authority undertakes the same type of analysis as those conducted herein. This testimony was unrebutted. (Tr. at 91, 121, 131-132, 137-138)
- (g) The County did not present any expert testimony that the services provided by the experts herein were inappropriate or unnecessary. (Findings at ¶4)

Through mediation, the attorney time on the claim was 157.2 hours; an

additional 137.6 hours were incurred between the mediation and the first trial (anticipated to be four days); an additional 69.1 hours were devoted in anticipation of the second trial (not reached), and 46.8 additional hours through the actual second trial. (Tr. at Exh. A).

The only expert witness on attorneys' fees testified that \$96,945 was the appropriate fee, and that pursuing the severance damages was reasonable and properly done. (Tr. at 47, 65) Each of the trial experts testified to the amount of their respective invoices. The trial court awarded \$50,000, or approximately forty percent (40%) lower than the overall request, for the experts (except the appraiser and surveyor, who were essentially paid in full). For attorneys' fees, the trial court awarded \$75,000, or approximately seventy percent (70%) of the invoiced amount of \$106,991.50. Collectively, the court awarded approximately 68.5% of the requested attorneys' fees and experts' fees.

Dade County appealed the fees judgment. The Third District Court of Appeal reversed, and concluded that none of the experts should be paid for their services, except the appraiser should be paid \$1500. *City National II*, 761 So.2d at 370. The factual basis for the \$1500 appraisal fee is not specified; the appellate court opined that sum is a reasonable fee to verify or challenge the County's

appraisal. The attorneys' fee award was reversed, with directions upon remand to award nothing for any time devoted to the severance damage issue. *Id*.

The appellate court noted that it had affirmed the exclusion of the site plans as being speculative, and stated:

[I]n light of our previous holding [exclusion of site plan because of its speculative and conjectural nature], we now find that the fees incurred by Property Owner in preparing the failed severance damages claim should not have been included in the calculation of either expert witness fees or attorneys' fees.

Id. The rationale or precedent for this finding is not enunciated.

The appellate opinion did not reference the trial court's Findings of Fact, or indicate these Findings of Fact were unsupported by substantial competent evidence. Dade County did not assert that the Findings of Fact were unsupported by substantial competent evidence in its brief below (instead, the County contended that the severance damage claim should not have been pursued, as such a claim was predictably not recoverable; Init. Br. at 18, and that the trial court did not place enough emphasis on the benefits obtained in assessing attorneys' fees, Init. Br. at 11). The appellate opinion did not state the standard of review it applied. The appellate opinion contains no case citations, other than its opinion from the first appeal in this cause. Motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc, and for certification of conflict, were denied.

R. 681.

The Property Owners timely sought certiorari jurisdiction of this Court based on a conflict between the district courts of appeal, and this Court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court specifically found that pursuing the severance damage claim herein was reasonable and justified under the circumstances. The trial court cited the following: (1) The *Partyka* decision reversed a trial court for excluding site plans, and expressly held that "[t]he excluded plans were perhaps the clearest form of evidence available to demonstrate the remaining property's utility before and after the taking"; (2) Prior to the instant suit even being filed, the County's own appraiser, in his appraisal, utilized the same site plan for the same purpose of analyzing severance damages caused to the out parcels; and (3) In this 1993 lawsuit, the County did not contest the use of the subject plans until the morning of the 1996 trial, when its *ore tenus* motion was denied; this case proceeded to trial with the plans being ruled admissible.

These facts, and the four additional findings specifically cited by the trial court, demonstrate that utilizing the historical development plans for analyzing severance damages herein was reasonable. These findings are supported by substantial competent evidence. The County presented no witnesses to support its claim that the services provided were unnecessary, and the County did not challenge the hours or rates of the professionals involved. The Property Owners presented five experts to

support their position that the services provided herein were appropriate.

Whether the Property Owners were reasonable in pursuing their theory of the case is a question of fact. The trial court specifically found: "While Dade County may disagree with the Defendants' theory of their case, this Court cannot conclude that it was unreasonable for the Defendants to pursue that theory, even if it was ultimately unsuccessful." (Findings at ¶5). This factual conclusion is supported by substantial competent evidence. The trial court's decision comes to the appellate court clothed with a presumption of correctness, and the appellate court cannot substitute its opinion for the trial court's opinion, based on the limited information in a cold record.

Property owners have a constitutional and statutory right to be compensated for the fees incurred in defending a condemnation action. The instant appellate opinion effectively makes the entitlement to an award of fees, including experts' fees, to be contingent upon the outcome. This holding is unprecedented, and is diametrically contrary to Florida Statute Section 73.091, which mandates that condemning authorities are responsible for paying all reasonable fees incurred by the property owner. No contingency applies.

The instant appellate opinion is very harmful to condemnees. An unsuccessful

claim arguably translates into no fees or costs for the services devoted to that claim. The condemnee now does not know if it can pursue claims that have a valid basis, for fear that the claim will be ultimately rejected. A small business person simply cannot afford the risk, however small, of funding of thousands of dollars of costs, with no certainty that the condemnor is responsible for at least the reasonable fees incurred.

The \$1500 award to the appraiser has no factual basis. The appellate opinion states that the appraiser simply should have spent a few hours reviewing the County's appraisal. This is unsupported by any evidence.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT WERE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE. AND WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IN **ABUSED** ITS DISCRETION AWARDING APPROXIMATELY 70% OF THE PROPERTY OWNERS' ATTORNEYS' FEE REQUEST, WHERE DADE COUNTY DID NOT CONTEST THE NUMBER OF HOURS OR **PRESENTED** HOURLY RATES, NO CONTRARY WITNESSES, AND THE **PROPERTY OWNERS'** THEORY OF THE CASE WAS DEEMED ADMISSIBLE IN THE FIRST TRIAL OF THIS CAUSE.

The "appellate function is to examine the record and determine if there is substantial competent evidence in the record to support the trial court's exercise of discretion in the amounts allowed for attorney's fees and costs." *City of Sunrise v. West Broward Utilities, Inc.*, 311 So.2d 175 (Fla. 4th DCA), *cert. denied*, 325 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1975)(cited with approval, *KCL Associates v. Islamorada Realty, Inc.*, 563 So.2d 112 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990)). *See also City of Miami Beach v. Belle Isle Apartment Corp.*, 177 So.2d 884 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965), *cert. denied*, 188 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1966) ("There was substantial competent evidence in the record that the attorney fees and expert witness fees were reasonable and within the limits of the testimony submitted." *Id.* at 887).

Dade County asserts that the Property Owners should not have pursued its theory of severance damages. The Property Owners, for their argument on this point, adopt the trial court's conclusions:

The Court finds that pursuing the severance damage claim herein was reasonable and justified under the circumstances, for the following reasons:

- a. At the <u>initial trial</u>, which resulted in a mistrial, Judge Robert Kaye, after hearing DADE COUNTY'S Motion in Limine on this issue, <u>ruled that the site plans</u> and other documentation <u>would be</u> admissible at the trial.
- b. <u>DADE COUNTY did not move to exclude this</u> severance damage claim until the day of the trial, and it was incumbent upon counsel for the Defendants to prepare in anticipation of presenting the evidence at trial. Indeed, if counsel did not prepare for the presentation of this evidence, and (as occurred herein), the Court did not exclude the evidence, counsel would have placed his client at a severe disadvantage.
- c. Defendant's counsel had a reasonable basis for believing that the evidence would be admissible, based upon *Partyka v. D.O.T.*, 606 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), which reversed a trial court for excluding site plans, as "[t]he excluded plans were perhaps the clearest form of evidence available to demonstrate the remaining property's utility before and after the taking." *Id.* at 496. The *Partyka* case, coupled with the trial court's initial ruling that the site plans would be admissible, demonstrates a reasonable basis for Defendant's counsel in pursuing this claim.
- d. The <u>County's appraiser</u> concluded in his 1992 appraisal, prior to Defendant's employing condemnation counsel, that: "1. The site's location across from the stadium and the race track make it suitable for development with service stations and fast food

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