SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1764 Lower Tribunal No.: 3D99-2230

CITY NATIONAL BANK OF FLORIDA, Formerly known as CITY NATIONAL BANK OF MIAMI, as Trustee under Certain Trust Agreement dated November 21, 1985, and known as Trust Number 5005110, et al..

Petitioner,

VS.

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, formerly known As DADE COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT=S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. GINSBURG Miami-Dade County Attorney Stephen P. Clark Center Suite 2810 111 N.W. 1st Street Miami, Florida 33128-1993 Tel: (305) 375-5151

Fax: (305) 375-5634 By

Thomas Goldstein Assistant County Attorney

Florida Bar No. 180724

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY
IN AN EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEEDING ATTORNEYS=FEES INCURRED IN PROVING A SEVERANCE DAMAGE CLAIM THAT IS INADMISSIBLE AS A MATTER OF LAW AND RESULTED IN NO BENEFIT FOR THE PROPERTY OWNER ARE NOT RECOVERABLE FROM THE CONDEMNING AUTHORITY13 IN AN EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEEDING EXPERT WITNESS
FEES AND COSTS INCURRED IN A SEVERANCE DAMAGE CLAIM THAT IS INADMISSIBLE AS A MATTER OF LAW ARE NOT RECOVERABLE FROM THE CONDEMNING AUTHORITY. 26 CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE34
APPENDIX

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES	PAGE(S)
	Brevard County v. Canaveral Properties, Inc.,
	696 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997)
	Circle K General, Inc. v. Hillsborough,
	524 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988)
	City National Bank of Florida v. Dade County,
	715 So. 2d 350 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), rev. den.,
	727 So. 2d 904 (Fla. 1998)
	City of Ft. Lauderdale v. Casino Realty, Inc.
	313 So. 2d 649 (Fla. 1975)
	City of Miami Beach v. Liflans Corp.,
	259 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972)
	200 201 22 0 20 (2 121 0 2 2 0 1 2 0
	Coral Glade Co. v. Board of Public Instruction of Dade County,
	122 So. 2d 587 (Fla. 3d DCA 1960)
	County of Sarasota v. Burdette,
	524 So. 2d 1064 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988)
	Dade County v. Brigham,
	47 So. 2d 602 (Fla. 1950)
	Department of Transportation v. Springs Land Investments, Ltd., 695 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997)1
	093 50. 20 414 (Fia. 5th DCA 1997)
	Div. of Admin., State Dept. of Transportation v. Denmark,
	354 So. 2d 100 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972)
	DOT v. Robbins and Robbins, Inc.,
	700 So. 2d 782 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), rev. dism.,
	716 So. 2d 769 (Fla. 1998)13, 14,

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

Florida Inland Navigation District v. Humphrey,
616 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993)
Hodges v. Division of Administration, State Dept. of Transportation,
323 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Jacksonville Transportation Authority v. ASC Associates,
559 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), rev. den.,
574 So. 2d 139 (Fla. 1990)
Leeds v. City of Homestead,
407 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Miami-Dade County v. City National Bank of Florida,
761 So. 2d 368 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000)
Partyka v. Florida Dept. of Transportation,
606 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992)
Seminole County v. Clayton,
665 So. 2d 363 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995)
State Dept. of Transp. v. Skidmore,
720 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)21, 22,
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Yoder v. Sarasota County,
81 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 1955)
, ,

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Counsel for Respondent, Miami-Dade County, certifies that the

following persons and entities have or may have an interest in the outcome

of this case.

City National Bank

Miami-Dade County

Ruden, McCloskey, Smith, Schuster and Russell, P.A.

Thomas R. Bolf, Esq.

Thomas Goldstein, Esq.

Joan Webb

Dr. Lloyd Moriber

Charles Putman

John Hagan

Ronald Baker

Donald Moore

John R. Moreland

James A. Horland, Esq.

PREFACE

The term ACounty@refers to Respondent/Appellant Miami-Dade County f/k/a Dade County.

The term AProperty Owners@refers to the Petitioners/Appellees, City National Bank of Florida, as Trustee, and the beneficiaries of the Trust, Dr. Lloyd Moriber and Mrs. Joan Webb.

The term ASubject Property@refers to the property subject to the condemnation herein, approximately a ten (10) acres tract at the southwest corner of N.W. 27th Avenue and N.W. 207th Street, near Pro Player Stadium, f/k/a Joe Robbie Stadium.

The transcript from the July 7, 1999 hearing on the Defendants=Motion to Tax Attorneys=Fees, Costs, and Experts=Fees (Volume V, Record on Appeal), will be cited to as AT@ with pagination.

The Record below will be referred to by AR@ with pagination.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Most of the facts are set forth in the opinion of this Court in City

National Bank of Florida v. Dade County, 715 So. 2d 350, 351-352 (Fla. 3d

DCA 1998), rev. den., 727 So. 2d 904 (Fla. 1998) (copy of opinion attached as Appendix 1) and are repeated herein:

In 1987, the owner prepared a conceptual site plan which called for a hotel, a retail strip shopping center, and four outparcels along 27th Avenue. The outparcels were designed for such uses as a convenience store, fast food restaurant, and a small commercial building.

The County rezoned the property consistent with the conceptual site plan. The southern 3.3 acres were zoned for hotel use and the northern 6.5 acres were zoned for commercial development. However, the owner desired to retain maximum flexibility in developing the property, and did not request approval of the site plan. Consequently, there was no approved site plan for the property.

Although the owner contends otherwise, it is abundantly clear that the body with the power to approve the site plan, the county commission, never did so. The county commission resolution rezoned the property but did not approve the site plan.

After rezoning, economic conditions were not suitable for immediate development of the property. Eventually the owner decided to try to sell the entire ten-acre tract for sale in bulk, leaving the question of

development for a successor owner. In the meantime, the land remains entirely undeveloped and is used as overflow parking for Pro Player Stadium.

In 1992, the County decided to improve the intersection of Northwest 27th Avenue and Northwest 207th Street. In order to accomplish the improvement, the County condemned a triangular segment of land located at the northeast corner of the owner=s property. If the property is visualized as a page of a book, Dade County clipped off a segment of the upper right-hand corner. This was about two percent of the total acreage.

As part of its damage claim, the owner sought severance damages. The owner theorized that, had there been no condemnation order, development of the tract would have proceeded in accordance with the conceptual site plan. Under that plan, there were 610 feet of commercial frontage on Northwest 27th Avenue. Under the conceptual site plan, the 610 feet on 27th Avenue were divided into four approximately 150-foot outparcels. The site plan suggested a convenience store, commercial building, fast food restaurant, and conventional restaurant as likely uses for the four outparcels.

After the taking, the commercial frontage on 27th Avenue was reduced by 116 feet, leaving 494 feet available for development. The expanded roadway ran diagonally across the northeast corner of the property, eliminating much of the proposed 150-foot outparcel which the conceptual plan had placed at the northeast corner of the property.

The owner argued that after the taking, development could no longer proceed in accordance with the conceptual site plan. This

meant that the owner would either have to create three oversize outparcels, or else four undersize outparcels, on 27th Avenue. Because the conceptual site plan could not be implemented as drawn, the owner contended that it was entitled to severance damages.

* * *

Furthermore, even if the owner had sought approval for this particular site plan, it is also speculative whether the County ever would have agreed to it in its proposed form. In this particular case, Northwest 207th Street was misaligned where it crossed Northwest 27th Avenue. This created an awkward traffic flow and a traffic signal problem. Given the increased traffic which would result from development, the County may well have required road access to be regularized before development could proceed. Whether for that or other reasons. there can be no assurance that the conceptual site plan ever would have been approved in its original form. In short, the owner-s intentions and the County=s possible actions both fall into the realm of speculation, and the conceptual site plan was properly excluded from evidence.

There was not only one conceptual site plan; rather, there were multiple conceptual drawings/site plans. During 1985-1987, architect

Avelino Leonicio produced numerous conceptual drawings/site plans for the subject property, including conceptual plans that did not contemplate any subdivision at all of the subject property. R.354-358; Appendix 2.

Eventually, the conceptual plans contemplated a AProposed Parcel Subdivision Plan@ of the subject property; however, this subdivision plan was never platted, officially subdivided or recorded in accordance with law.

Chapter 28, Subdivision Code, Code of Metropolitan Dade County.

R.357; Appendix 3 and Hagan Deposition at 27. Several different

conceptual drawings/site plans were prepared depicting this fictitious

subdivision. R./361-364; Appendix 4. The resulting Asite plan@(R.375;

Appendix 5) did not comply with Section 33-251.5, Plan Review Standards,

Code of Metropolitan Dade County; therefore, it was not reviewable by the

County=s building and zoning department. R.688.

The Property Owners and their attorney, Tom Bolf, chose to seek severance damages from the County by superimposing the area of the taking over this conceptual site plan and then determining how the taking affected the Owners= ability to implement their conceptual plan. R.283; Appendix 6. In addition to the above, all of the experts retained in this case assumed that a gas station would have been built on the fictitious corner outparcel. T.93, 102-103, R.344; Appendix 7. In this rendition of the conceptual site plan, however, the dimensions of the corner parcel were inexplicably downsized from the other three outparcels when the conceptual layout of a gas station was now depicted on that corner. Appendix 7.

The land planner, Charles Putman, then determined that the taking would wipe out the Aestablished@gas station use. R.345; Appendix 8.

Therefore, in order to save the Avaluable@gas station corner outparcel,
Mr. Putman reconfigured the fictitious subdivision into three alternative
fictitious subdivisions depicting three reconfigurations of the fictitious, nonexistent gas station. R.316-318, 346-348; Appendix 9. Mr. Ron Baker of
MDM Services specializes in the design and construction of gas stations.

T.126. Mr. Baker, at the request of Mr. Bolf, prepared a half-dozen
layouts of gas stations on the corner parcel in both the before condition
and in the after condition on the reconfigured outparcels. R.285, 289291B, T.126, 128; Appendix 10. A gas station marketing expert, John R.
Moreland, was also retained. T.123, 125.

Don Moore of Zook, Moore & Assoc. from West Palm Beach

performed a traffic engineering and transportation safety and site

development analysis with regard to the various conceptual plans produced

by MDM Services, the gas station designer. T.114-115. Mr. Moore

analyzed traffic patterns and flow in both the before and after situations.

T.119-120; R.292-294.

Prior to filing its eminent domain petition, the County had offered the owner \$95,000 and thereafter deposited that amount as its good faith estimate in 1993 in accordance with its Order of Taking. T.151. The County=s good faith deposit was based on an appraisal that arrived at a value of \$10 per square foot for the entire tract of land. Gallaher=s

Appraisal at 31. The Property Owner-s appraiser, John Hagan, arrived at the same \$10 per square foot value of the entire tract. Both appraisers determined that the highest and best use based on its commercial zoning was for commercial development including the possibility of subdividing the property into outparcels. Hagan-s Appraisal at 8 and Gallaher-s Appraisal at 19.

Hagan, however, did not stop there. Based on the unplatted, fictitious and unrecorded subdivision appearing on the unapproved site plan, Hagan allocated specific values to each of the outparcels. Hagan:s Appraisal at 11. Hagan allocated a \$20 per square foot value to the corner outparcel assuming it was a gas station site, \$12 per square foot to the other three outparcels based on their use as fast food or sit-down restaurant sites, and, by simple mathematical calculations arrived at a value of \$6.12 per square foot for the remaining land which he designated as the West commercial parcel. Hagan Appraisal at 11.

In order to prove severance damages to the remainder of the entire tract, Hagan determined:

After the taking, the present site plan will not be suitable for a service station development. The area acquired would render the corner site infeasible for service station use given its configuration. With the assistance of the firm of

Charles Putman & Associates, Inc. and Zook
Moore Associates, Inc. the appraiser has analyzed
an alternate site plan which will provide for full
service station use conforming to the taking. With
the newly aligned intersection, the curvature of the
northeast corner of the site requires the service
station site layout to extend for 160= from the
point of tangency with the curve. This is the same
amount of linear frontage possessed before the
taking. The remaining outparcels fronting on NW
27 Avenue contain a total of 89,448 sf. A third
parcel is created adjacent to the service station
parcel to the west. This parcel will contain 33,807
sf, and be considered a side parcel lying between
the service station and the rear commercial area.

Hagan: Appraisal at 15. Based on the redesign of the non-existent gas station on a reconfigured, unplatted, unrecorded fictitious subdivision,

Hagan assigned values to each of the Anew@parcels: \$20 per square foot to the corner service station outparcel, but based on less total square footage than the before condition; \$12 per square foot to each of the other two outparcels, but based on a larger total square footage than before; \$8 per square foot for a newly created Aside parcel@ and \$6.12 per square foot to the remaining West Commercial Parcel, but based on a larger total square footage.

When Hagan adds the total values of all the parcels, he arrives at a value to the remaining tract of land of \$9.59 per square foot or a loss to the entire remaining tract of 414 per square foot. Hagan then reallocates the amount of square footage for the service station site to equal the size of

tract is reduced to 284 per square foot. Hagan then reconciled these two after approaches to arrive at a loss to the entire tract of 354 per square foot resulting in a total severance damage for the entire tract of land at \$97,000.00. Thus, Hagan spent the vast majority of his time determining this severance damage based on how the property was conceptually to be developed with a gas station. T.139-140, 147.

Hagan=s total bill was \$17,922.50, while the County=s appraiser was paid \$1,800.00 for his initial good faith estimate of value of \$95,000.00. T.149. Mr. Putman, the land planner, billed \$37,741.48. T.90. Mr. Moore, the traffic engineer, billed a total of \$38,004.16. T.120. Mr. Baker, gas station design specialist, billed a total of \$7,513.57, while Mr. Moreland, the gas station marketing expert, billed \$500.00. T.123, 126. The County did not retain any experts other than its appraiser.

At the conclusion of the litigation six years later, the Property

Owners were awarded \$95,000.00, the exact amount offered to them in

1992 prior to filing suit. The Property Owners appealed to the Third

District Court of Appeal which affirmed the trial court=s ruling granting the

He was paid an additional \$9,150.00 for acting as a consultant to counsel and for trial preparation.

County=s Motion in Limine to exclude the proffered testimony of the conceptual site plans as the basis to determine severance damages as speculative and conjectural. *City National Bank of Florida v. Dade*County, 715 So. 2d 350 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), rev. den., 727 So. 2d 904 (Fla. 1998) (Appendix 1). The Supreme Court denied conflict review.

A different trial judge conducted a hearing on the Property Owner-s motion to tax attorney=s fees and costs totaling over \$217,000 including expert witness fees. The trial court issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Judgment Awarding Attorneys= Fees, Expert Fees and Costs on July 28, 1999. (copy attached as Appendix 11). The trial court determined that it was reasonable and justified under the circumstances of this case for Tom Bolf, the Property Owner=s attorney, to pursue the severance damage claim. The Court awarded Bolf \$75,000 of the \$100,759 fee that he sought. The court then awarded \$17,922.50 to the appraiser Hagan representing 100% of his billing. T.135. Without explanation, the Court awarded \$50,000 of the \$89,991.21 that was billed by the remainder of the experts and co-counsel Horland for them to split up as they saw fit. The total attorneys= fees and expert witness fees awarded by the trial court was \$140,739.26. Dade County appealed the trial court=s ruling. The Third District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court=s ruling finding that the trial court had erred by including expert

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